

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.



# Discrimination Between Self and Non-Self-Nucleic Acids by the Innate Immune System

## Takumi Kawasaki<sup>1</sup>, Taro Kawai<sup>1</sup>

Laboratory of Molecular Immunobiology, Division of Biological Science, Graduate School of Science and Technology, Nara Institute of Science and Technology, Ikoma, Japan <sup>1</sup>Corresponding authors: e-mail address: kawast01@bs.naist.jp; tarokawai@bs.naist.jp

### Contents

Introduction	2
Intracellular Nucleic Acid Sensors	3
<b>2.1</b> RLRs	3
<b>2.2</b> ALRs	5
<b>2.3</b> cGAS	6
<b>2.4</b> ISGs	7
Extracellular Nucleic Acid Recognition	8
3.1 TLRs	8
3.2 TLR9	9
3.3 TLR3	9
3.4 TLR7 and TLR8	10
Modifications Enabling DNA Discrimination	10
4.1 APOBEC3	12
4.2 SAMHD1	12
Modifications Allowing RNA Discrimination	13
5.1 2'-O-Methyltransferase	13
5.2 ADAR	14
Endogenous Nucleic Acids as DAMPs	15
6.1 Stress-Induced Release of Nucleotides	15
6.2 The Role of Nucleotide Binding Proteins in Inflammation	16
Endogenous Nucleotides Facilitate Inflammation	17
7.1 Self-DNA Accumulation and Inflammation	17
7.2 Self-RNA Accumulation and Inflammation	18
Conclusion	19
knowledgment	20
ferences	20
	Introduction Intracellular Nucleic Acid Sensors 2.1 RLRs 2.2 ALRs 2.3 cGAS 2.4 ISGs Extracellular Nucleic Acid Recognition 3.1 TLRs 3.2 TLR9 3.3 TLR3 3.4 TLR7 and TLR8 Modifications Enabling DNA Discrimination 4.1 APOBEC3 4.2 SAMHD1 Modifications Allowing RNA Discrimination 5.1 2'-O-Methyltransferase 5.2 ADAR Endogenous Nucleic Acids as DAMPs 6.1 Stress-Induced Release of Nucleotides 6.2 The Role of Nucleotide Binding Proteins in Inflammation Endogenous Nucleotides Facilitate Inflammation 7.1 Self-DNA Accumulation and Inflammation 7.2 Self-RNA Accumulation and Inflammation Conclusion knowledgment ferences

1

#### Abstract

During viral and bacterial infections, the innate immune system recognizes various types of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as nucleic acids, via a series of membrane-bound or cytosolic pattern-recognition receptors. These include Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), AIM2-like receptors (ALRs), and cytosolic DNA sensors. The binding of PAMPs to these receptors triggers the production of type I interferon (IFN) and inflammatory cytokines. Type I IFN induces the expression of interferon stimulated genes (ISGs), which protect surrounding cells from infection. Some ISGs are nucleic acids-binding proteins that bind viral nucleic acids and suppress their replication. As nucleic acids are essential components that store and transmit genetic information in every species, infectious pathogens have developed systems to escape from the host nucleic acid recognition system. Host cells also have their own nucleic acids that are frequently released to the extracellular milieu or the cytoplasm during cell death or stress responses, which, if able to bind pattern-recognition receptors, would induce autoimmunity and inflammation. Therefore, host cells have acquired mechanisms to protect themselves from contact with their own nucleic acids. In this review, we describe recent research progress into the nucleic acid recognition mechanism and the molecular bases of discrimination between self and non-self-nucleic acids.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Invading microbes are initially recognized by the host cell's innate immune system via germ line-encoded pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs). PRRs recognize conserved pathogen-specific molecular signatures such as viral nucleic acids and fungal and bacterial cell-wall components, which are termed pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Because activation of the innate immune system triggered by PRR recognition is a critical host defense mechanism, many infectious pathogens have developed the ability to suppress PRR-mediated responses in order to escape detection. The binding of PAMPs to PRRs initiates a signal transduction cascade culminating in the induction of innate immune responses through the production of inflammatory cytokines, type I interferon (IFN), and other mediators. Cytokines transmit a signal to neighboring cells that induce the expression of an array of antiviral and antibacterial genes. These factors prevent pathogen replication by binding viral or bacterial components or by impairing host cell protein synthesis. In addition to triggering immediate host defensive responses, cytokines also prime and orchestrate antigen-specific adaptive immune responses (Kawai and Akira, 2011; Rathinam and Fitzgerald, 2011; Wu and Chen, 2014).

3

Nucleic acids, such as RNA and DNA, are also PAMPs. Mammals have several distinct classes of nucleic acid-recognizing PRRs, including Tolllike receptors (TLRs), RIG-I (retinoic-acid inducible gene I)-like receptors (RLRs), AIM2 (absent in melanoma 2)-like receptors (ALRs), and intracellular DNA sensors such as cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS). These receptors are classified according to their cellular localizations, the types of nucleic acids they recognize, and the specific signaling pathways that they activate. For instance, TLRs localize on plasma membrane or endocytic membrane and recognize extracellular nucleic acids, whereas other nucleic acidrecognizing PRRs are cytosolic DNA and RNA sensors; TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, TLR13, and RLRs recognize RNA, and TLR9 and DNA sensors recognize DNA; TLRs, RLRs, and DNA sensors induce the production of type I IFN and inflammatory cytokines, whereas ALRs induce the activation of the inflammasome and produce IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18. Other than PRRs, several interferon stimulatory genes (ISGs) also bind to pathogen-derived nucleic acids to restrict viral and bacterial replication and prevent the spread of infection to other cells.

Endogenous nucleic acids, such as mRNA, tRNA, mitochondrial DNA, and genomic DNA, that are released during stress responses or cell death can also engage with PRRs to trigger inflammatory cytokines and type I IFN, leading to the initiation and perpetuation of chronic inflammation. Inappropriate or prolonged detection of endogenous nucleic acids underlies many autoimmune diseases. Therefore, host cells have innate mechanisms to protect them from unwanted contact with endogenous (self) nucleic acids. These mechanisms can be largely subdivided into three categories: the cellular localization of PRRs, nucleic acid modifications, and the degradation of unnecessary nucleic acids.

In this review, we describe the most recent research progress into the innate immune system's nucleic acid recognition mechanism and the molecular bases of its discrimination between self and non-self (pathogen) nucleic acids (Fig. 1).

# 2. INTRACELLULAR NUCLEIC ACID SENSORS 2.1 RLRs

The RLR family is composed of the proteins RIG-I and MDA5, which have similar multi-domain architectures: tandem N-terminal caspase activation and recruitment domains (CARDs) that propagate downstream signaling, a DExD/H box RNA helicase domain, and a C-terminal domain



**Fig. 1** Recognition of nucleic acids by PRRs. TLR3, 7/8, 9 and 13 are localized in endosomes. TLR3 recognizes dsRNAs, TLR7/8 recognizes ssRNAs and guanosine derivatives such as R837 and R848, TLR9 recognizes dsDNAs, and TLR13 recognizes 23S rRNAs. Ligand binding TLRs associate with MyD88 and/or TRIF in the cytosol. Intracellular RNA is recognized by RIG-I and MDA5, which bind to short dsRNAs and long dsRNAs, respectively. The binding of RIG-I and MDA5 to nucleic acids induces the formation of filaments that bind to mitochondria-localizing IPS-1 (MAVS). Intracellular dsDNAs bind to cGAS and produce cGAMP. cGAMP binds to STING which localizes in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Activation of the MyD88/TRIF, IPS-1 and STING adaptor proteins induces translocation of the transcription factors NF-κB and IRF to the nucleus following the production of type I IFN and inflammatory cytokines. AIM2 and IFI16 bind to dsDNAs and form an inflammasome with ASC and caspase-1. Activation of caspase-1 cleaves pro-IL-1β or pro-IL-18 to the mature forms of IL-1β and IL-18, respectively.

(CTD) (Yoneyama and Fujita, 2008). RIG-I binds to blunt ends of dsRNA displaying 5'-diphosphate and 5'-triphosphate moieties and to at least 10–19bp of the adjacent dsRNA (Hornung et al., 2006; Schlee et al., 2009). RIG-I binds to the 5' terminus of dsRNA as a monomer in the absence of ATP and forms filamentous oligomers near the dsRNA end in a ATP-dependent manner (Peisley et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2014). In contrast, individual molecules of MDA5 bind dsRNA internally in a highly cooperative manner and form long filaments around dsRNA in the absence of ATP (Berke et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2013). These data support the theory that RIG-I recognizes short dsRNAs whereas MDA5 preferentially binds longer dsRNAs. In the absence of dsRNAs, the CARDs of RIG-I and MDA5

interact with their helicase domain, forming an inhibitory complex (Kowalinski et al., 2011). Upon dsRNA recognition, RIG-I and MDA5 form filaments along dsRNA and their CARDs bind to the CARD of the adaptor protein interferon- $\beta$  promoter stimulator 1 (IPS-1, also known as mitochondrial antiviral signaling (MAVS) protein). IPS-1 oligomerizes upon RIG-I and MDA5 binding and activates the downstream type I IFN pathway (Hou et al., 2011).

Genetic studies revealed that specific viruses were recognized by RIG-I and MDA5: Newcastle disease virus (NDV), Sendai virus (SeV), vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), influenza virus, and Japanese encephalitis virus are specifically recognized by RIG-I. In contrast, picornaviruses, including encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV), Mengo virus, and Theiler's virus, are recognized by MDA5. Dengue virus and West Nile viruses (WNV) are recognized by both RIG-I and MDA5 (Fredericksen et al., 2008; Gitlin et al., 2006; Loo et al., 2008; Rehwinkel et al., 2010). In addition to RNA viruses, RIG-I is involved in the recognition of DNA viruses including herpes simplex virus (HSV) and adenovirus (Chiu et al., 2009; Rasmussen et al., 2009). Furthermore, RIG-I binds short dsRNA intermediates containing a 5'-triphosphate group transcribed by DNA-dependent RNA polymerase III (Pol III) to induce IFN $\beta$  (Ablasser et al., 2009; Chiu et al., 2009). Recently, 5S ribosomal RNA pseudogene 141 (RNA5SP141) was found to bind to RIG-I during HSV-1 and influenza A virus (IAV) infections to enhance the expression of type I IFNs (Chiang et al., 2018).

#### 2.2 ALRs

ALRs belong to the PYHIN protein family that typically consist of an N-terminal pyrin domain and one or two C-terminal hematopoietic IFN-inducible nuclear protein with 200 amino acids (HIN-200) domains. The HIN-200 domain contains a oligonucleotide/oligosaccharide-binding fold (OB fold), which is a common DNA-binding motif. Although only 4 *PYHIN* genes are present in humans, 13 are encoded in mice. AIM2 is the only ALR that is conserved between humans and mice. The AIM2 ALR acts as a cytosolic dsDNA sensor that oligomerizes on cytosolic foreign dsDNA and nucleates the polymerization of ASC (adaptor protein apoptosis-associated speck-like protein) to form a caspase-1 activating inflammasome, a filamentous supramolecular signaling platform that is required to instigate innate immune responses. Activated caspase-1 then cleaves pro-IL-1 $\beta$  or pro-IL-18 enabling the release of the mature active cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 2009;

Hornung et al., 2009; Roberts et al., 2009). AIM2 also has a crucial role in the development of the innate immune response against pathogen infections that include *Francisella tularensis* (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 2010), HSV-1 (Maruzuru et al., 2018) and human papillomavirus (Reinholz et al., 2013). IFI16 is also a member of the ALR family. It is able to sense pathogenic DNA in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus, and recognizes DNA from viruses including human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) (Monroe et al., 2014) and Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) (Kerur et al., 2011).

AIM2 is potentially able to bind to small DNA fragments below 20 bp in length; however, binding and oligomerization of AIM2 on long DNA fragments are required to initiate filament formation and mediate a robust innate immune response. In contrast, a transient association between the IFI16 HIN-200 domains and dsDNA larger than 60 bp permits at least four IFI16 molecules to cluster, initiating filament assembly (Morrone et al., 2014).

#### 2.3 cGAS

cGAS is a cytosolic DNA sensor that recognizes DNA derived from pathogens or host cells (Gao et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). It is involved in the immune recognition of HSV-1; retroviruses such as HIV-1, murine leukemia virus, and simian immunodeficiency virus; and reverse transcribed (+) ssDNA (Reinert et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2013). It is currently unclear how cGAS recognizes retroviruses, but cGAS-deficient mice exhibit reduced type I IFN expression following retrovirus infection (Gao et al., 2013). cGAS also plays an important role in eliciting anti-mycobacterial immunity by recognizing DNA released by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Collins et al., 2015; Wassermann et al., 2015; Watson et al., 2015).

Biochemical and structural analysis of cGAS showed that it is able to bind to dsDNAs smaller than 20 bp in length (Civril et al., 2013; Li et al., 2013); however, 20 bp dsDNAs are unable to activate cGAS *in vivo*. Another study demonstrated that effective activation of cGAS occurs in the presence of dsDNA over 40 bp in length (Herzner et al., 2015). Recent work revealed that cGAS is activated in a length-dependent manner and that cGAS dimers form a ladder-like networks with DNA over 45 bp in length, which is sufficient for activation of innate immune responses *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Andreeva et al., 2017).

cGAS is a cytoplasmic nucleotidyltransferase, which, upon dsDNA binding, catalyzes the synthesis of cGAMP from GMP and AMP. In turn, cGAMP binds to and activates the STING adaptor protein, which initiates signaling to induce type I IFN production (Sun et al., 2013). cGAMP also functions as a second messenger for transducing alarm signals to surrounding cells: it is delivered from producing cells to neighboring cells through gap junctions, where it promotes STING activation and antiviral immunity independent of type I IFN signaling (Ablasser et al., 2013). During virus infection and expansion, cGAS-synthesized cGAMP can be packaged into viral particles and extracellular vesicles. The viral particles then deliver cGAMP to target cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs). This triggers innate immunity and antiviral defenses (Gentili et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2016).

#### 2.4 ISGs

Type I IFNs produced upon pathogen infection protect host cells by inducing the expression of ISGs. Some ISGs mediate antibacterial responses, while others mediate antiviral responses. As already discussed, RIG-I and MDA5 are well-known RNA sensors; however, these factors are also key ISGs that stimulate antiviral responses against hepatitis C virus (HCV), WNV, and Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV). It has been proposed that RIG-1 and MDA5 inhibit viral replication by binding to the viral RNA genome (Schoggins et al., 2011). In addition, the RNAactivated protein kinase R (PKR), the tetratricopeptide repeats (IFITs) family protein, oligoadenylate synthase (OAS), and the Moloney leukemia virus 10 (MOV10) protein are also known to bind to pathogenic or endogenous RNA. PKR is activated by RNA having bulges and internal loops. Upon activation, PKR phosphorylates eukaryotic initiation factor  $2\alpha$ (eIF2 $\alpha$ ), which induces the inhibition of translation and leads to apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2001).

OAS has been identified as an enzyme that senses viral dsRNA. OAS is activated upon viral dsRNA binding and catalyzes the generation of the second messenger, 2'-5'-oligoadenylate (2'-5'A). 2'-5'A activates endoribonuclease L (RNase L), which degrades host and viral RNA (Chebath et al., 1987). Another OAS family member is OASL (oligoadenylate synthetase-like), which promotes antiviral activity by enhancing the sensitivity of RLR activation (Lee et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2014). MOV10 is a member of the RNA helicase superfamily-1, and is also associated with Argonaute 2 (AGO2), a component of the RNA-induced silencing complex. MOV10 was originally identified as a protein that prevents production of the endogenous Moloney murine leukemia virus infection in mice (Goodier et al., 2012; Schnieke et al., 1983). Later studies determined that MOV10 is able to reduce the infectivity of HIV-1, simian immunodeficiency virus, and murine leukemia virus (Wang et al., 2010). MOV10 is thought to multifunctional protein that MOV10 binds to polymerase basic protein 2 (PB2) in nucleoprotein (NP) of IAV and inhibits IAV replication which is unnecessary for RNA helicase activity (Zhang et al., 2016a).

# 3. EXTRACELLULAR NUCLEIC ACID RECOGNITION 3.1 TLRs

TLRs recognize many types of PAMPs, including lipids, lipoproteins, proteins, and nucleotides. The TLR family comprises 10 members (TLR1-TLR10) in humans and 12 (TLR1-TLR9, TLR11-TLR13) in mice. TLRs are composed of an extracellular domain with leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) that mediates the recognition of PAMPs, a transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain that initiates downstream signaling. The TLR family can be divided into two subgroups: TLRs that localize to the cell surface and TLRs that reside in intracellular compartments such as endosomes, lysosomes, and endolysosomes. Each subgroup recognizes distinct PAMPs. For example, the nucleic acid-sensing TLRs exclusively localize intracellularly; TLR3, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR13 recognize RNA, whereas TLR9 recognizes DNA. Binding of TLR to pathogenic nucleic acids induces an association with a specific set of TIR domaincontaining adaptors, such as MyD88 and TRIF, which activates the transcription factors NF-kB and the interferon regulatory factor family (IRFs). Transcription factor activation then induces the production of type I IFN and inflammatory cytokines. Although different TLRs bind to distinct synthetic ligands, their sensitivity to microbial components overlaps. TLRs are highly expressed on innate immune cells such as macrophages and DCs, which are professional antigen presenting cells that produce inflammatory cytokines and type I IFN. One of these TLRs, TLR13, has recently been shown to recognize a 23S ribosomal rRNA sequence that is the binding site of macrolide, lincosamide, and streptogramin group antibiotics (including erythromycin) in bacteria (Oldenburg et al., 2012). However, other intracellular nucleic acid sensors, such as cGAS and RLRs, are expressed in a variety of cell types including epithelial cells, macrophages and DCs. Therefore, the cooperative recognition of invaded pathogens by distinct receptors is important in triggering a robust innate immune response.

#### 3.2 TLR9

TLR9 was first identified as a DNA sensing receptor expressed in professional innate immune cells such as DCs and macrophages. TLR9 preferentially binds to hexamers containing unmethylated CpG (cytosine-phosphate-guanine dideoxynucleotide) motifs (Hemmi et al., 2000). Studies on TLR9-deficient mice have shown that TLR9 acts as a sensor for DNA viruses such as cytomegalovirus (MCMV), HSV-1 (Hochrein et al., 2004), HSV-2 (Lund et al., 2003), and adenovirus (Zhu et al., 2007) in DCs. How-ever, innate immune recognition of these viruses in non-DCs is dependent on cytosolic DNA sensing of viral DNA and is TLR-independent.

Structural analysis of the TLR9 extracellular domain bound to a CpG-DNA 12-mer indicated that TLR9 and CpG-DNA form a symmetric complex with 2:2 stoichiometry, and CpG-DNA was found to bind to both protomers in the TLR9 dimer (Ohto et al., 2015). Investigation of the optimal DNA sequence motifs for TLR9 binding and activation suggested that TLR9 has an additional DNA-binding site to enhance its activation (Pohar et al., 2015a,b). A recent structural study confirmed that TLR9 has a second DNA-binding site that binds to DNA containing cytosine at the second position from the 5' end (5'-xCx DNA), which cooperatively promotes the dimerization and activation of TLR9 (Ohto et al., 2018).

#### 3.3 TLR3

TLR3 detects double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) and its synthetic analogue, polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) (Alexopoulou et al., 2001). TLR3-deficient mice are susceptible to ssRNA viruses, such as WNV (Daffis et al., 2008), Semliki Forest virus (Schulz et al., 2005), and EMCV (Hardarson et al., 2007) as well as DNA viruses, such as MCMV (Tabeta et al., 2004) and HSV-1 (Zhang et al., 2007). TLR3 deficiency in humans also causes an increase in HSV-1 infection rates (Zhang et al., 2007).

Structural analysis of the mouse TLR3 ectodomain in complex with dsRNA indicated that TLR3 forms a homodimer with a flat horseshoe-like shape, and positively charged residues in the ectodomains of the two TLR3 protomers each bind the sugar-phosphate backbone of one dsRNA ligand (Liu et al., 2008). The positively charged residues of the ligand binding sites in TLR3 are in two discrete regions near the N- and C-termini of the horse-shoe. The ligand binding sites of TLR3 are separated by approximately 120 Å, which is equivalent to dsRNA of approximately 45 bp in length, the minimal length that has been determined for stable binding of TLR3 to dsRNA.

#### 3.4 TLR7 and TLR8

TLR7 and TLR8 recognize single-stranded RNA molecules (ssRNAs) (Diebold et al., 2004; Heil et al., 2004; Lund et al., 2004). Human TLR7, TLR8, and mouse TLR7 also recognize imidazoquinoline derivatives such as imiquimod (R837), resiquimod (R848), and guanine analogues, whereas mouse TLR8 does not. Cells derived from TLR7-deficient mice are unable to induce cytokine production in response to ssRNA viruses such as IAV, VSV, and HIV-1 (Hemmi et al., 2002; Lund et al., 2004). In addition, TLR7 detects bacterial ssRNAs from strains such as Group B *Streptococci*. However, it is not able to sense ssRNAs from other bacteria such as *Listeria monocytogenes* and Group A *Streptococci* (Mancuso et al., 2009). TLR7 is predominantly expressed in plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and is involved in the robust expression of IFN $\alpha$  in both humans and mice.

Structural analysis of TLR7 indicated that it forms an m-shaped dimer with two binding sites, which act as a dual receptor for ssRNA and guanosine. Binding of ssRNA to TLR7 enhances the affinity of the guanosine binding site for its ligand. The specific binding of both ligands to TLR7 is crucial for its dimerization and activation (Zhang et al., 2016b). Conversely, synthetic agonists for TLR7 (R837 and R848) and TLR8 (CL097, CL075 and R848) can, in isolation, directly bind and induce dimer formation of their respective receptors (Tanji et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2016b) (Fig. 1).

#### 4. MODIFICATIONS ENABLING DNA DISCRIMINATION

DNA methylation is utilized by bacterial restriction and modification systems to allow bacteria to distinguish between self and non-self-DNA. The mammalian genome contains cytosine (C) and guanosine (G) enriched regions, where the C and G bases are separated by a single phosphate group. This structural feature is known as a CpG motif, which is shorthand for 5'-C-phosphate-G-3'. Cytosine nucleotides in CpGs are commonly methylated by methyltransferases, and 70–80% of CpG sites in mammals are methylated. In contrast, the methylation levels of CpG sites in bacterial and viral genomes are significantly lower. Unmethylated CpG nucleotides are recognized by TLR9; therefore, methylation-based DNA modification is a well-established system that allows distinction between self and nonself-nucleic acids (Hemmi et al., 2000).

The oxidized base 8-hydroxyguanosine (8-OHG), a marker of DNA oxidative damage, promotes cytosolic immune recognition by decreasing

its susceptibility to 3' repair exonuclease 1 (TREX1)-mediated degradation. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) or UV exposure are responsible for the generation of 8-OHG, which stimulates the production of UV-exposed skin lesions in lupus-prone mice and is abundant in lupus-induced skin lesions in humans (Gehrke et al., 2013).

In addition to DNA modifications, host cells have also evolved DNAmodulating proteins that directly or indirectly regulate their defense against viruses and suppress non-coding endogenous retrotransposons and retrovirus elements (Fig. 2).



**Fig. 2** Regulation of nucleic acid-related restriction by ISGs. Released type I IFNs induce various types of ISGs expression in surrounding cells. ISG expression protects cells from viral and bacterial infections. RIG-I and MDA5 work as a receptor and a viral restriction factor by binding to short dsRNAs and long dsRNAs, respectively. PKR binds to RNAs that have bulges and internal loops, MOV10 binds to dsRNAs, and IFIT1 binds to ssRNAs. OAS binds to dsRNAs and generates 2'-5'A to activate RNase L. APOBEC3 catalyzes the deamination of cytidine (C) to uridine (U) in ssDNA substrates. ADAR catalyzes the conversion of adenosine (A) to inosine (I) in dsRNA substrates. SAMHD1 is a triphosphohydrolase that converts deoxynucleoside triphosphates to deoxynucleoside and triphosphate, which reduces cellular dNTP levels. TREX1 (DNase III) degrades dsDNAs in extracellular spaces, and DNase II degrades endosomal dsDNAs derived from the macrophage engulfment of dead cells.

#### 4.1 APOBEC3

Apolipoprotein B editing complex 3 (APOBEC3) family members are cytidine deaminases that catalyze the removal of an amino group from cytidine (C), forming uridine (U) in single-stranded DNA substrates. The human genome encodes seven APOBEC3 (A3) proteins. APOBEC3G (A3G) was initially identified as a suppressor of HIV-1 infectivity (Doyle et al., 2015). During synthesis of the first (minus) retroviral DNA strand, APOBEC-catalyzed deamination of cytosine (C) residues results in the accumulation of excessive levels of uracil (U). Subsequently, Uracil (U) is recognized as thymine (T) by the viral reverse transcriptase and adenine (A) is incorporated into the newly synthesized second (plus) DNA strand rather than guanine (G). Therefore, mutation levels in HIV-1 genomes are increased following replication; the consequential augmentation of mutant functional proteins results in a decrease in viral infectivity (Doyle et al., 2015).

Regions of non-coding endogenous retrotransposons and retrovirus elements in the human genome are remnants of ancestral retroviral germ line infections. The expansion and transposition of endogenous retroviruses are believed to induce cancers, autoimmune diseases, and other disorders in the host. Most retroelements have lost their ability to replicate because of the accumulation of inactivating mutations, but several, including some murine intracisternal A-particles (IAP) and MusD sequences, are still mobile. A3G plays a crucial role in restricting their retrotransposition (Esnault et al., 2005). The accumulation of endogenous viruses upon A3G suppression has been shown to induce type I IFN expression though a STING-mediated DNA sensing pathway (Stavrou et al., 2015).

#### 4.2 SAMHD1

The sterile alpha-motif (SAM) and histidine-aspartate (HD) domaincontaining protein 1 (SAMHD1) was identified as a factor that inhibits HIV-1 infection in myeloid cells (Laguette et al., 2011). SAMHD1 is a potent dNTP triphosphohydrolase that converts deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTPs) into their corresponding deoxynucleoside and inorganic tripolyphosphate moieties (Goldstone et al., 2011). SAMHD1 decreases the concentration of intracellular dNTPs in myeloid cells to a level that is unable to support reverse transcription, establishing a cellular state that is not permissive to HIV-1 infections (Lahouassa et al., 2012). Since DNA viruses also utilize cellular dNTPs, SAMHD1 additionally limits the replication of DNA viruses such as vaccinia virus and HSV-1 in myeloid target cells (Hollenbaugh et al., 2013).

As well as suppressing HIV-1 propagation, SAMHD1 was originally identified as a binding protein for the HIV-1 accessory protein, virionassociated protein (Vpr). HIV-2 genomes also express the accessory protein Vpx, which augments the ability of HIV-2 to infect myeloid cells and was initially proposed to counteract SAMHD1 (Sharova et al., 2008). Later studies showed that Vpx binds to SAMHD1 and induces its degradation (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011).

# 5. MODIFICATIONS ALLOWING RNA DISCRIMINATION

RNA classes include transfer RNA (tRNA), messenger RNA (mRNA), and non-coding RNA (ncRNA). Although over 100 different types of RNA modifications have been identified across all living organisms, little is known about their resultant functions. The more abundant host RNA modifications have been elucidated, which include pseudouridine ( $\psi$ ) and 2'-O-methylation (2'OMe) in tRNA, and N<sup>6</sup>-methyladenosine  $(m^{6}A)$  and 5-methyl-cytidine  $(m^{5}C)$  in mRNA. These modifications elicit various functional roles such as translation, localization, and stability. Among these, it is well known that discrimination of self and non-self-RNA is dependent upon naturally occurring modifications at the 5' end of RNA. Mammalian cell mRNAs usually have a 5' cap structure, called cap 0 (m7Gppp) that consists of a guanine nucleotide that is connected to mRNA via a reverse 5'-5'-triphosphate bridge. In addition, the guanosine is methylated at the N7 position. The methylated guanosine cap residues of mRNAs are recognized and bound by the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) to recruit transcripts to the ribosome and initiate translation. In higher eukaryotes, the mRNA cap is further modified by ribose 2'-O-methylation on the first and sometimes second nucleotides adjacent to the cap, forming cap 1- or cap 2-mRNA (Werner et al., 2011).

#### 5.1 2'-O-Methyltransferase

N7 methylation is important for various processes including transcriptional elongation, poly-adenylation, splicing, and nuclear export. Although the functional role of 2'-O-methylation in the cap 1 and cap 2 structures on mRNA is not generally understood, other studies have indicated that methylation serves as a molecular signature to distinguish self and non-self mRNA

(Daffis et al., 2010; Zust et al., 2011). Many viruses that replicate in the cytoplasm (for example, picornavirus, flavivirus, coronavirus, and poxvirus) encode their own RNA modification enzymes, including 2'-O-methyltransferase. The importance of viral RNA modifications in replication has been supported by studies that the infection of viruses lacking 2'-O-methyltransferase activity induces higher type I IFN expression, and unmodified genomic RNA was recognized by the host RNA sensor, MDA5 (Zust et al., 2011). The functional importance of 2'-O-methyltransferase activity for the infectivity of RNA viruses was also verified by studies on dengue virus (DENV) (Zust et al., 2018), Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) (Aouadi et al., 2017), and ronivirus (Zeng et al., 2016). These viruses also encode 2'-O-methyltransferase and its disruption also causes type I IFN induction and virus elimination from the host following infection. Together, these results indicate that RNA viruses have evolved to encode their own methyltransferases that mimic host RNA methylation patterns to avoid recognition by the host's innate immune system.

#### **5.2 ADAR**

ADARs (adenosine deaminases acting on RNA) catalyze the conversion of adenosine (A) to inosine (I) in double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) substrates. Such "A-to-I editing" alters the coding of RNA, as inosine is read as guanosine (G) instead of adenosine by ribosomes during translation, leading to the production of non-functional proteins. In humans, two autoimmune disorders, Dyschromatosis Symmetrica Hereditaria (DSH) and Aicardi-Goutières Syndrome (AGS), are attributed to specific mutations that have been mapped to the Adar1 gene (Rice et al., 2012). Furthermore, Adar1 inducible knockout (KO) mice exhibit a high level of IFN production in neuronal tissues, a key characteristic of AGS. In healthy cells, ADAR1mediated nucleotide conversions are believed to be important for the suppression of viral replication and, more importantly, endogenous RNA recognition by the RNA sensor, MDA5. Correspondingly, mutations in either MDA5 or MAVS rescue the embryonic lethal phenotype of Adar1 KO mice (Liddicoat et al., 2015; Mannion et al., 2014; Pestal et al., 2015).

Approximately half of the mammalian genome is composed of noncoding retrotransposons, such as SINEs (short interspersed nuclear elements) and Alu elements, which typically form dsRNA duplexes (Lander et al., 2001; Waterston et al., 2002). Retrotransposons are subjected to extensive A-to-I RNA editing by ADAR (Ramaswami et al., 2012). It is possible that the location of repetitive elements determines their immunogenicity. Retrotransposons located within introns do not persist in the cytosol and therefore are unable to activate MDA5. Repetitive elements in 3' UTRs, although rare, can be retained and form duplexes to activates MDA5. Editing of self-dsRNA by ADAR1 generates multiple I-U mismatches to avoid MDA5 recognition (Berke et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2013). In the absence of ADAR1 activity, long dsRNA stem loops can activate MDA5. However, A-to-I editing also alters the RNA secondary structure, which may lead to recognition by innate immune receptors (Liddicoat et al., 2015; Pestal et al., 2015). Recent data have shown that ADAR1 predominantly edits Alu elements in RNA polymerase II (pol II)-transcribed mRNAs, but not those transcribed by pol III in human cells (Chung et al., 2018), and A-to-I conversion in Alus suppresses MDA5 activation *in vitro* (Ahmad et al., 2018).

# 6. ENDOGENOUS NUCLEIC ACIDS AS DAMPs

Apoptosis is a process of programmed cell death that occurs in multicellular organisms, where cellular components, such as RNA and DNA, are completely degraded. However, during non-apoptotic cell death events, including necrosis, intracellular contents are released into the surrounding tissues. Released endogenous RNA and DNA are potent inducers for the activation of innate immune signaling as they can bind to both endogenous and exogenous nucleic acid receptors. Endogenous nucleic acids are also released as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) during stress conditions such as chemotherapy, UV, and radiation that also induce non-apoptotic cell death.

#### 6.1 Stress-Induced Release of Nucleotides

Radiation damage elicits the production of dsRNA, which activates TLR3 and causes inflammatory diseases in various tissues such as the skin and small intestine (Bernard et al., 2012; Takemura et al., 2014, 2018). Intracellular DNA is also released upon cellular stress. Chemicals such as mutagenic 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene (DMBA), cisplatin, and etoposide induce cytosolic leakage of nuclear DNA, which intrinsically induces type I IFN expression through the cGAS-STING pathway (Ahn et al., 2014). Mito-chondrial (mt) DNA released into the cytosol upon mitochondrial stress

is sensed by cGAS (West et al., 2015). In addition, DNA released by tumor chemotherapy and radiation therapy acts as an adjuvant that activates the cGAS-STING pathway by releasing type I IFN from DCs (Deng et al., 2014; Woo et al., 2014). Such inductions of the inflammatory response are further facilitated by nucleotide binding proteins that enhance DNA incorporation into immune cells and protect it from nucleases. Inflammatory diseases in mice and humans are induced when released intracellular DNA and RNA, including endogenous retroelements and non-coding RNA, cannot be adequately cleared.

#### 6.2 The Role of Nucleotide Binding Proteins in Inflammation

Various nucleotide binding proteins have been identified as factors that exacerbate inflammation. Most nucleotide binding proteins are expected to protect DNA from degradation by DNase and RNase in the extracellular fluid and facilitate its incorporation into innate immune cells. High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) is a nuclear protein that binds to DNA and participates in processes such as transcription and repair. However, when it is released in complex with DNA in response to cell damage or inflammation, it acts as a potent inflammatory cytokine. HMGB1/DNA complexes facilitate incorporation into innate immune cells by binding to RAGE (receptor for advanced glycosylation end) on the surface of B-cells and DCs, which leads to the recruitment of TLR9 and potentiates type I IFN expression (Yanai et al., 2009). Another report has demonstrated that HMGB1 and its related family members, HMGB2 and HMGB3, bind to DNA and these complexes activate TLRs. In addition, a recent finding indicated that HMGB1 is able to induce the formation of U-turns and bends in dsDNA that nucleate cGAS dimers, leading to the formation of cGAS ladder-like networks with DNA (Andreeva et al., 2017). Another factor that can convert self-DNA into a pathogenic ligand is LL37, which is the active form of cathelicidin, an endogenous anti-microbial peptide that is produced by keratinocytes and neutrophils. LL37 has been found to bind to self-DNA released from necrotic cells in psoriatic lesional skin. The LL37-DNA complex forms condensed structures that protect self-DNA from nuclease degradation. The LL37-DNA complex is then translocated into the endocytic compartments of pDCs, inducing TLR9 activation and resulting in a sustained type I IFN response (Lande et al., 2007, 2011). The production of LL37 is associated with the onset of inflammatory diseases such as Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE).

Cells also secrete extracellular vesicles called exosomes. Exosomes are endosomal membrane vesicles with a diameter of  $\sim$ 40–150 nm and contain various molecular constituents, including proteins and nucleic acids, from their cells of origin. Nucleic acids in exosomes are also protected from nuclease degradation. Cancer cells release exosomes that contain DNA or RNA. These exosomes are captured by DCs which then induce type I IFN production (Kitai et al., 2017; Nabet et al., 2017).

# 7. ENDOGENOUS NUCLEOTIDES FACILITATE INFLAMMATION

Mutations in genes encoding SAMHD1, TREX1 (DNase III), DNase II, Ribonuclease (RNase) H2, and ADAR are associated with AGS and chilblain lupus, which are rare early-onset inflammatory diseases characterized by inappropriate immune activation and overproduction of type I IFN (Rice et al., 2009, 2012). In healthy cells, SAMHD1, TREX1, DNase II, RNase H2, and ADAR suppress the accumulation of endogenous extracellular DNA or intracellular RNA derived from non-coding retrotransposons such as SINEs, Alus, long-non coding RNAs (lncRNAs) and circular RNAs (circRNAs).

#### 7.1 Self-DNA Accumulation and Inflammation

SAMHD1 deficient mice show reduced cellular dNTP concentrations and elevation of ISG expression in various cell types, which are similar characteristics exhibited by cells from AGS and SLE patients (Behrendt et al., 2013). However, one study unexpectedly found that SAMHD1 deficient mice show increases in ISG, but no SLE-like phenotype (Rehwinkel et al., 2013).

TREX1 is a 3' repair exonuclease that digests cytosolic DNA. Mutations in TREX1 cause AGS and chilblain lupus (Crow et al., 2006, 2015; Stetson et al., 2008). The AGS-like symptoms in TREX1 deficient mice are rescued by genetic ablation of cGAS or STING (Gray et al., 2015).

Another major cellular nuclease is DNase II, which localizes in the lysosome and is largely responsible for the clearance of DNA from dead cells and expelled nuclei. *DNase II<sup>-/-</sup>* mice die in utero, and the embryos become severely anemic by embryonic day 17.5. However, these phenotypes were rescued by crossing with IRF3- or cGAS-deficient mice (Gao et al., 2015; Kawane et al., 2006). DNase II mutations have been found in human patients with inflammatory phenotypes (Rodero et al., 2017). AGS is also caused by a mutation in RNase H2. Cells deficient in RNase H2 accumulate ribonucleotides within their genomic DNA, which results in single-stranded breaks. This DNA damage leads to activation of the cGAS-STING pathway (Mackenzie et al., 2016; Pokatayev et al., 2016).

#### 7.2 Self-RNA Accumulation and Inflammation

Mutations in ADAR1 are also associated with AGS (Crow et al., 2015). ADAR1 deficiency in mice results in a lethal embryonic phenotype, which is accompanied by substantial expression of type I IFNs and hematopoietic failure (Wang et al., 2000). This embryonic lethality is partially rescued in *Adar1* and *Mavs* double mutants (Liddicoat et al., 2015; Mannion et al., 2014; Pestal et al., 2015). Cells deficient in ADAR1 induce type I IFN production, as self-dsRNA will not contain multiple I-U mismatches, enabling its recognition by MDA5 (Berke et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2013). A deficiency in IPS-1 (MAVS) prevents the recognition of long dsRNAs derived from 3' UTRs or non-coding retrotransposons in ADAR1 deficient mice. In addition, treatment of cells with DNA methyltransferase inhibitors induces endogenous RNA virus transcription that enhances RLRs signaling; however, this response is decreased twofold in IPS-1 knockout cells (Chiappinelli et al., 2015; Roulois et al., 2015).

The microRNA let-7 is a highly abundant regulator of gene expression at the post-transcriptional level in the central nervous system. Extracellular let-7 activates the TLR7 RNA-sensor and induces neurodegeneration through neuronal TLR7 and is associated with progression of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Lehmann et al., 2012). MicroRNA-21 is one of the most highly expressed members in various types of cells and has several functions such as cellular differentiation, cancer proliferation and cytokines production. MicroRNA-21 in macrophage reported to be induced by LPS and suppressed cytokines production in macrophages (Sheedy et al., 2010). Other microRNA such as microRNA-135-5p, microRNA-26b and microRNA-29a also reported to be contributed in inflammatory response after LPS stimulation (Li et al., 2016; Tang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2015), therefore increase or decrease of microRNA in macrophage and DC may causes the progression of inflammatory disease.

Over the past few years, thousands of lncRNA and circRNA have been identified in mammalian genome and shown to have various functions. Some of lncRNA and circRNA are proposed to regulate innate immune responses during TLR and RLR activation. Several lncRNAs, such as lncRNA-Cox2 and lncRNA-1992, are inducible expressed during innate immune activation and are suggested to regulate cytokines production by inhibiting regulatory proteins expression (Carpenter et al., 2013; Li et al., 2014). A recent report showed that self-recognition of lncRNA-Lsm3b with RIG-I inhibits RIG-I activation to prevent overproduction of type I IFN for maintenance of immune homeostasis (Jiang et al., 2018). CircRNAs are generated through back splicing and have been postulated to function as microRNA sponges. A recent report indicated that circRNA generated from foreign introns potently stimulates innate immune signaling and inhibits viral infection (Chen et al., 2017), and circRNA biogenesis is directly involved in viral restriction (Li et al., 2017).

# 8. CONCLUSION

In this review, we have summarized the innate immune sensing mechanisms for nucleic acids as well as antiviral and antibacterial restriction factors that modulate the replication of nucleic acids. Host cells have mechanisms to protect endogenous nucleic acids from unwanted contact with host PRRs. These mechanisms can be subdivided into three categories: the cellular localization of PRRs, nucleic acid modifications, and the degradation of unnecessary nucleic acids. Although retroelements, such as SINE, LINE, Alus, and retrotransposons, are derived from host cells and could potentially initiate an innate immune response via MDA5 and RIG-I recognition, the activation of ADAR1 and SAMHD1 suppresses the recognition and accumulation of these retroelements. Protection against endogenous nucleic acid recognition is also achieved by nucleic acid degradation. TREX1 degrades dsDNA in the extracellular milieu derived from host cells. In addition, DNase II localizes in the lysosome and is largely responsible for the clearance of DNA from dead cells and expelled nuclei. Self-nucleic acids may be released into the extracellular space upon cell necrosis. These are degraded by DNases and RNases before they come into contact with nucleic acidsensing TLRs in endosomes. In addition, RNA 2'-O methylation and CpG-DNA methylation in the host are other important signatures for self-nucleic acid discrimination.

In recent years, our understanding of self and non-self-nucleic acid recognition mechanisms has greatly increased because of advances in structural analyses, *in vitro* experiments, and DNA/RNA sequencing. However, the detailed molecular mechanisms of self-nucleic acid recognition during development, inflammatory diseases or stress conditions are still unclear. Nevertheless, the current accumulation of information regarding nucleic acid discriminatory systems will be applicable for the treatment and management of immunological disorders in the future.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We thank Emma Andrew, PhD, from Edanz Group (www.edanzediting.com/ac) for editing a draft of this chapter.

#### REFERENCES

- Ablasser, A., Bauernfeind, F., Hartmann, G., Latz, E., Fitzgerald, K.A., Hornung, V., 2009. RIG-I-dependent sensing of poly(dA:dT) through the induction of an RNA polymerase III-transcribed RNA intermediate. Nat. Immunol. 10, 1065–1072.
- Ablasser, A., Schmid-Burgk, J.L., Hemmerling, I., Horvath, G.L., Schmidt, T., Latz, E., Hornung, V., 2013. Cell intrinsic immunity spreads to bystander cells via the intercellular transfer of cGAMP. Nature 503, 530–534.
- Ahmad, S., Mu, X., Yang, F., Greenwald, E., Park, J.W., Jacob, E., Zhang, C.Z., Hur, S., 2018. Breaching self-tolerance to alu duplex RNA underlies MDA5-mediated inflammation. Cell 172, 797–810.e13.
- Ahn, J., Xia, T., Konno, H., Konno, K., Ruiz, P., Barber, G.N., 2014. Inflammation-driven carcinogenesis is mediated through STING. Nat. Commun. 5, 5166.
- Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A.C., Medzhitov, R., Flavell, R.A., 2001. Recognition of doublestranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by toll-like receptor 3. Nature 413, 732–738.
- Andreeva, L., Hiller, B., Kostrewa, D., Lassig, C., De Oliveira Mann, C.C., Jan Drexler, D., Maiser, A., Gaidt, M., Leonhardt, H., Hornung, V., Hopfner, K.P., 2017. cGAS senses long and HMGB/TFAM-bound U-turn DNA by forming protein-DNA ladders. Nature 549, 394–398.
- Aouadi, W., Blanjoie, A., Vasseur, J.J., Debart, F., Canard, B., Decroly, E., 2017. Binding of the methyl donor S-adenosyl-l-methionine to middle east respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2'-O-methyltransferase nsp16 promotes recruitment of the allosteric activator nsp10. J. Virol. 91, e02217-16.
- Behrendt, R., Schumann, T., Gerbaulet, A., Nguyen, L.A., Schubert, N., Alexopoulou, D., Berka, U., Lienenklaus, S., Peschke, K., Gibbert, K., Wittmann, S., Lindemann, D., Weiss, S., Dahl, A., Naumann, R., Dittmer, U., Kim, B., Mueller, W., Gramberg, T., Roers, A., 2013. Mouse SAMHD1 has antiretroviral activity and suppresses a spontaneous cell-intrinsic antiviral response. Cell Rep. 4, 689–696.
- Berke, I.C., Yu, X., Modis, Y., Egelman, E.H., 2012. MDA5 assembles into a polar helical filament on dsRNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109, 18437–18441.
- Bernard, J.J., Cowing-Zitron, C., Nakatsuji, T., Muehleisen, B., Muto, J., Borkowski, A.W., Martinez, L., Greidinger, E.L., Yu, B.D., Gallo, R.L., 2012. Ultraviolet radiation damages self noncoding RNA and is detected by TLR3. Nat. Med. 18, 1286–1290.
- Carpenter, S., Aiello, D., Atianand, M.K., Ricci, E.P., Gandhi, P., Hall, L.L., Byron, M., Monks, B., Henry-Bezy, M., Lawrence, J.B., O'neill, L.A., Moore, M.J., Caffrey, D.R., Fitzgerald, K.A., 2013. A long noncoding RNA mediates both activation and repression of immune response genes. Science 341, 789–792.
- Chebath, J., Benech, P., Revel, M., Vigneron, M., 1987. Constitutive expression of (2'-5') oligo A synthetase confers resistance to picornavirus infection. Nature 330, 587–588.
- Chen, Y.G., Kim, M.V., Chen, X., Batista, P.J., Aoyama, S., Wilusz, J.E., Iwasaki, A., Chang, H.Y., 2017. Sensing self and foreign circular rnas by intron identity. Mol. Cell 67, 228–238.e5.
- Chiang, J.J., Sparrer, K.M.J., Van Gent, M., Lassig, C., Huang, T., Osterrieder, N., Hopfner, K.P., Gack, M.U., 2018. Viral unmasking of cellular 5S rRNA pseudogene transcripts induces RIG-I-mediated immunity. Nat. Immunol. 19, 53–62.

- Chiappinelli, K.B., Strissel, P.L., Desrichard, A., Li, H., Henke, C., Akman, B., Hein, A., Rote, N.S., Cope, L.M., Snyder, A., Makarov, V., Budhu, S., Slamon, D.J., Wolchok, J.D., Pardoll, D.M., Beckmann, M.W., Zahnow, C.A., Merghoub, T., Chan, T.A., Baylin, S.B., Strick, R., 2015. Inhibiting DNA methylation causes an interferon response in cancer via dsRNA including endogenous retroviruses. Cell 162, 974–986.
- Chiu, Y.H., Macmillan, J.B., Chen, Z.J., 2009. RNA polymerase III detects cytosolic DNA and induces type I interferons through the RIG-I pathway. Cell 138, 576–591.
- Chung, H., Calis, J.J.A., Wu, X., Sun, T., Yu, Y., Sarbanes, S.L., Dao Thi, V.L., Shilvock, A.R., Hoffmann, H.H., Rosenberg, B.R., Rice, C.M., 2018. Human ADAR1 prevents endogenous RNA from triggering translational shutdown. Cell 172, 811–824.e14.
- Civril, F., Deimling, T., De Oliveira Mann, C.C., Ablasser, A., Moldt, M., Witte, G., Hornung, V., Hopfner, K.P., 2013. Structural mechanism of cytosolic DNA sensing by cGAS. Nature 498, 332–337.
- Collins, A.C., Cai, H., Li, T., Franco, L.H., Li, X.D., Nair, V.R., Scharn, C.R., Stamm, C.E., Levine, B., Chen, Z.J., Shiloh, M.U., 2015. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune DNA sensor for mycobacterium tuberculosis. Cell Host Microbe 17, 820–828.
- Crow, Y.J., Hayward, B.E., Parmar, R., Robins, P., Leitch, A., Ali, M., Black, D.N., Van Bokhoven, H., Brunner, H.G., Hamel, B.C., Corry, P.C., Cowan, F.M., Frints, S.G., Klepper, J., Livingston, J.H., Lynch, S.A., Massey, R.F., Meritet, J.F., Michaud, J.L., Ponsot, G., Voit, T., Lebon, P., Bonthron, D.T., Jackson, A.P., Barnes, D.E., Lindahl, T., 2006. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome at the AGS1 locus. Nat. Genet. 38, 917–920.
- Crow, Y.J., Chase, D.S., Lowenstein Schmidt, J., Szynkiewicz, M., Forte, G.M., Gornall, H.L., Oojageer, A., Anderson, B., Pizzino, A., Helman, G., Abdel-Hamid, M.S., Abdel-Salam, G.M., Ackroyd, S., Aeby, A., Agosta, G., Albin, C., Allon-Shalev, S., Arellano, M., Ariaudo, G., Aswani, V., Babul-Hirji, R., Baildam, E.M., Bahi-Buisson, N., Bailey, K.M., Barnerias, C., Barth, M., Battini, R., Beresford, M.W., Bernard, G., Bianchi, M., Billette De Villemeur, T., Blair, E.M., Bloom, M., Burlina, A.B., Carpanelli, M.L., Carvalho, D.R., Castro-Gago, M., Cavallini, A., Cereda, C., Chandler, K.E., Chitayat, D.A., Collins, A.E., Sierra Corcoles, C., Cordeiro, N.J., Crichiutti, G., Dabydeen, L., Dale, R.C., D'arrigo, S., De Goede, C.G., De Laet, C., De Waele, L.M., Denzler, I., Desguerre, I., Devriendt, K., Di Rocco, M., Fahey, M.C., Fazzi, E., Ferrie, C.D., Figueiredo, A., Gener, B., Goizet, C., Gowrinathan, N.R., Gowrishankar, K., Hanrahan, D., Isidor, B., Kara, B., Khan, N., King, M.D., Kirk, E.P., Kumar, R., Lagae, L., Landrieu, P., Lauffer, H., Laugel, V., La Piana, R., Lim, M.J., Lin, J.P., Linnankivi, T., Mackay, M.T., Marom, D.R., Marques Lourenco, C., Mckee, S.A., Moroni, I., Morton, J.E., Moutard, M.L., Murray, K., Nabbout, R., Nampoothiri, S., Nunez-Enamorado, N., Oades, P.J., Olivieri, I., Ostergaard, J.R., Perez-Duenas, B., Prendiville, J.S., Ramesh, V., Rasmussen, M., Regal, L., Ricci, F., Rio, M., Rodriguez, D., et al., 2015. Characterization of human disease phenotypes associated with mutations in TREX1, RNASEH2A, RNASEH2B, RNASEH2C, SAMHD1, ADAR, and IFIH1. Am. J. Med. Genet. A 167A, 296-312.
- Daffis, S., Samuel, M.A., Suthar, M.S., Gale Jr., M., Diamond, M.S., 2008. Toll-like receptor 3 has a protective role against west nile virus infection. J. Virol. 82, 10349–10358.
- Daffis, S., Szretter, K.J., Schriewer, J., Li, J., Youn, S., Errett, J., Lin, T.Y., Schneller, S., Zust, R., Dong, H., Thiel, V., Sen, G.C., Fensterl, V., Klimstra, W.B., Pierson, T.C., Buller, R.M., Gale Jr., M., Shi, P.Y., Diamond, M.S., 2010. 2'-O

methylation of the viral mRNA cap evades host restriction by IFIT family members. Nature 468, 452–456.

- Deng, L., Liang, H., Xu, M., Yang, X., Burnette, B., Arina, A., Li, X.D., Mauceri, H., Beckett, M., Darga, T., Huang, X., Gajewski, T.F., Chen, Z.J., Fu, Y.X., Weichselbaum, R.R., 2014. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferon-dependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic tumors. Immunity 41, 843–852.
- Diebold, S.S., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Akira, S., Reis e Sousa, C., 2004. Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. Science 303, 1529–1531.
- Doyle, T., Goujon, C., Malim, M.H., 2015. HIV-1 and interferons: who's interfering with whom? Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 13, 403–413.
- Esnault, C., Heidmann, O., Delebecque, F., Dewannieux, M., Ribet, D., Hance, A.J., Heidmann, T., Schwartz, O., 2005. APOBEC3G cytidine deaminase inhibits retrotransposition of endogenous retroviruses. Nature 433, 430–433.
- Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Yu, J.W., Datta, P., Wu, J., Alnemri, E.S., 2009. AIM2 activates the inflammasome and cell death in response to cytoplasmic DNA. Nature 458, 509–513.
- Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Yu, J.W., Juliana, C., Solorzano, L., Kang, S., Wu, J., Datta, P., McCormick, M., Huang, L., McDermott, E., Eisenlohr, L., Landel, C.P., Alnemri, E.S., 2010. The AIM2 inflammasome is critical for innate immunity to Francisella tularensis. Nat. Immunol. 11, 385–393.
- Fredericksen, B.L., Keller, B.C., Fornek, J., Katze, M.G., Gale Jr., M., 2008. Establishment and maintenance of the innate antiviral response to west nile virus involves both RIG-I and MDA5 signaling through IPS-1. J. Virol. 82, 609–616.
- Gao, D., Wu, J., Wu, Y.T., Du, F., Aroh, C., Yan, N., Sun, L., Chen, Z.J., 2013. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses. Science 341, 903–906.
- Gao, D., Li, T., Li, X.D., Chen, X., Li, Q.Z., Wight-Carter, M., Chen, Z.J., 2015. Activation of cyclic GMP-AMP synthase by self-DNA causes autoimmune diseases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 112, E5699–E5705.
- Gehrke, N., Mertens, C., Zillinger, T., Wenzel, J., Bald, T., Zahn, S., Tuting, T., Hartmann, G., Barchet, W., 2013. Oxidative damage of DNA confers resistance to cytosolic nuclease TREX1 degradation and potentiates STING-dependent immune sensing. Immunity 39, 482–495.
- Gentili, M., Kowal, J., Tkach, M., Satoh, T., Lahaye, X., Conrad, C., Boyron, M., Lombard, B., Durand, S., Kroemer, G., Loew, D., Dalod, M., Thery, C., Manel, N., 2015. Transmission of innate immune signaling by packaging of cGAMP in viral particles. Science 349, 1232–1236.
- Gitlin, L., Barchet, W., Gilfillan, S., Cella, M., Beutler, B., Flavell, R.A., Diamond, M.S., Colonna, M., 2006. Essential role of mda-5 in type I IFN responses to polyriboinosinic: polyribocytidylic acid and encephalomyocarditis picornavirus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 8459–8464.
- Goldstone, D.C., Ennis-Adeniran, V., Hedden, J.J., Groom, H.C., Rice, G.I., Christodoulou, E., Walker, P.A., Kelly, G., Haire, L.F., Yap, M.W., De Carvalho, L.P., Stoye, J.P., Crow, Y.J., Taylor, I.A., Webb, M., 2011. HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. Nature 480, 379–382.
- Goodier, J.L., Cheung, L.E., Kazazian Jr., H.H., 2012. MOV10 RNA helicase is a potent inhibitor of retrotransposition in cells. PLoS Genet. 8, e1002941.
- Gray, E.E., Treuting, P.M., Woodward, J.J., Stetson, D.B., 2015. Cutting edge: cGAS is required for lethal autoimmune disease in the Trex1-deficient mouse model of aicardi-goutieres syndrome. J. Immunol. 195, 1939–1943.

- Hardarson, H.S., Baker, J.S., Yang, Z., Purevjav, E., Huang, C.H., Alexopoulou, L., Li, N., Flavell, R.A., Bowles, N.E., Vallejo, J.G., 2007. Toll-like receptor 3 is an essential component of the innate stress response in virus-induced cardiac injury. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 292, H251–H258.
- Heil, F., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Kirschning, C., Akira, S., Lipford, G., Wagner, H., Bauer, S., 2004. Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science 303, 1526–1529.
- Hemmi, H., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Kaisho, T., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Matsumoto, M., Hoshino, K., Wagner, H., Takeda, K., Akira, S., 2000. A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. Nature 408, 740–745.
- Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Hoshino, K., Horiuchi, T., Tomizawa, H., Takeda, K., Akira, S., 2002. Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat. Immunol. 3, 196–200.
- Herzner, A.M., Hagmann, C.A., Goldeck, M., Wolter, S., Kubler, K., Wittmann, S., Gramberg, T., Andreeva, L., Hopfner, K.P., Mertens, C., Zillinger, T., Jin, T., Xiao, T.S., Bartok, E., Coch, C., Ackermann, D., Hornung, V., Ludwig, J., Barchet, W., Hartmann, G., Schlee, M., 2015. Sequence-specific activation of the DNA sensor cGAS by Y-form DNA structures as found in primary HIV-1 cDNA. Nat. Immunol. 16, 1025–1033.
- Hochrein, H., Schlatter, B., O'keeffe, M., Wagner, C., Schmitz, F., Schiemann, M., Bauer, S., Suter, M., Wagner, H., 2004. Herpes simplex virus type-1 induces IFN-alpha production via Toll-like receptor 9-dependent and -independent pathways. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 11416–11421.
- Hollenbaugh, J.A., Gee, P., Baker, J., Daly, M.B., Amie, S.M., Tate, J., Kasai, N., Kanemura, Y., Kim, D.H., Ward, B.M., Koyanagi, Y., Kim, B., 2013. Host factor SAMHD1 restricts DNA viruses in non-dividing myeloid cells. PLoS Pathog. 9, e1003481.
- Hornung, V., Ellegast, J., Kim, S., Brzozka, K., Jung, A., Kato, H., Poeck, H., Akira, S., Conzelmann, K.K., Schlee, M., Endres, S., Hartmann, G., 2006. 5'-Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. Science 314, 994–997.
- Hornung, V., Ablasser, A., Charrel-Dennis, M., Bauernfeind, F., Horvath, G., Caffrey, D.R., Latz, E., Fitzgerald, K.A., 2009. AIM2 recognizes cytosolic dsDNA and forms a caspase-1-activating inflammasome with ASC. Nature 458, 514–518.
- Hou, F., Sun, L., Zheng, H., Skaug, B., Jiang, Q.X., Chen, Z.J., 2011. MAVS forms functional prion-like aggregates to activate and propagate antiviral innate immune response. Cell 146, 448–461.
- Hrecka, K., Hao, C., Gierszewska, M., Swanson, S.K., Kesik-Brodacka, M., Srivastava, S., Florens, L., Washburn, M.P., Skowronski, J., 2011. Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. Nature 474, 658–661.
- Jiang, M., Zhang, S., Yang, Z., Lin, H., Zhu, J., Liu, L., Wang, W., Liu, S., Liu, W., Ma, Y., Zhang, L., Cao, X., 2018. Self-recognition of an inducible host lncRNA by RIG-I feedback restricts innate immune response. Cell 173, 906–919.e13.
- Kawai, T., Akira, S., 2011. Toll-like receptors and their crosstalk with other innate receptors in infection and immunity. Immunity 34, 637–650.
- Kawane, K., Ohtani, M., Miwa, K., Kizawa, T., Kanbara, Y., Yoshioka, Y., Yoshikawa, H., Nagata, S., 2006. Chronic polyarthritis caused by mammalian DNA that escapes from degradation in macrophages. Nature 443, 998–1002.
- Kerur, N., Veettil, M.V., Sharma-Walia, N., Bottero, V., Sadagopan, S., Otageri, P., Chandran, B., 2011. IFI16 acts as a nuclear pathogen sensor to induce the inflammasome in response to Kaposi Sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infection. Cell Host Microbe 9, 363–375.

- Kitai, Y., Kawasaki, T., Sueyoshi, T., Kobiyama, K., Ishii, K.J., Zou, J., Akira, S., Matsuda, T., Kawai, T., 2017. DNA-containing exosomes derived from cancer cells treated with topotecan activate a STING-dependent pathway and reinforce antitumor immunity. J. Immunol. 198, 1649–1659.
- Kowalinski, E., Lunardi, T., Mccarthy, A.A., Louber, J., Brunel, J., Grigorov, B., Gerlier, D., Cusack, S., 2011. Structural basis for the activation of innate immune patternrecognition receptor RIG-I by viral RNA. Cell 147, 423–435.
- Laguette, N., Sobhian, B., Casartelli, N., Ringeard, M., Chable-Bessia, C., Segeral, E., Yatim, A., Emiliani, S., Schwartz, O., Benkirane, M., 2011. SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. Nature 474, 654–657.
- Lahouassa, H., Daddacha, W., Hofmann, H., Ayinde, D., Logue, E.C., Dragin, L., Bloch, N., Maudet, C., Bertrand, M., Gramberg, T., Pancino, G., Priet, S., Canard, B., Laguette, N., Benkirane, M., Transy, C., Landau, N.R., Kim, B., Margottin-Goguet, F., 2012. SAMHD1 restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by depleting the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates. Nat. Immunol. 13, 223–228.
- Lande, R., Gregorio, J., Facchinetti, V., Chatterjee, B., Wang, Y.H., Homey, B., Cao, W., Su, B., Nestle, F.O., Zal, T., Mellman, I., Schroder, J.M., Liu, Y.J., Gilliet, M., 2007. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells sense self-DNA coupled with antimicrobial peptide. Nature 449, 564–569.
- Lande, R., Ganguly, D., Facchinetti, V., Frasca, L., Conrad, C., Gregorio, J., Meller, S., Chamilos, G., Sebasigari, R., Riccieri, V., Bassett, R., Amuro, H., Fukuhara, S., Ito, T., Liu, Y.J., Gilliet, M., 2011. Neutrophils activate plasmacytoid dendritic cells by releasing self-DNA-peptide complexes in systemic lupus erythematosus. Sci. Transl. Med. 3, 73ra19.
- Lander, E.S., Linton, L.M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M.C., Baldwin, J., Devon, K., Dewar, K., Doyle, M., Fitzhugh, W., Funke, R., Gage, D., Harris, K., Heaford, A., Howland, J., Kann, L., Lehoczky, J., Levine, R., Mcewan, P., Mckernan, K., Meldrim, J., Mesirov, J.P., Miranda, C., Morris, W., Naylor, J., Raymond, C., Rosetti, M., Santos, R., Sheridan, A., Sougnez, C., Stange-Thomann, Y., Stojanovic, N., Subramanian, A., Wyman, D., Rogers, J., Sulston, J., Ainscough, R., Beck, S., Bentley, D., Burton, J., Clee, C., Carter, N., Coulson, A., Deadman, R., Deloukas, P., Dunham, A., Dunham, I., Durbin, R., French, L., Grafham, D., Gregory, S., Hubbard, T., Humphray, S., Hunt, A., Jones, M., Lloyd, C., McMurray, A., Matthews, L., Mercer, S., Milne, S., Mullikin, J.C., Mungall, A., Plumb, R., Ross, M., Shownkeen, R., Sims, S., Waterston, R.H., Wilson, R.K., Hillier, L.W., McPherson, J.D., Marra, M.A., Mardis, E.R., Fulton, L.A., Chinwalla, A.T., Pepin, K.H., Gish, W.R., Chissoe, S.L., Wendl, M.C., Delehaunty, K.D., Miner, T.L., Delehaunty, A., Kramer, J.B., Cook, L.L., Fulton, R.S., Johnson, D.L., Minx, P.J., Clifton, S.W., Hawkins, T., Branscomb, E., Predki, P., Richardson, P., Wenning, S., Slezak, T., Doggett, N., Cheng, J.F., Olsen, A., Lucas, S., Elkin, C., Uberbacher, E., Frazier, M., et al., 2001. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409, 860-921.
- Lee, M.S., Kim, B., Oh, G.T., Kim, Y.J., 2013. OASL1 inhibits translation of the type I interferon-regulating transcription factor IRF7. Nat. Immunol. 14, 346–355.
- Lehmann, S.M., Kruger, C., Park, B., Derkow, K., Rosenberger, K., Baumgart, J., Trimbuch, T., Eom, G., Hinz, M., Kaul, D., Habbel, P., Kalin, R., Franzoni, E., Rybak, A., Nguyen, D., Veh, R., Ninnemann, O., Peters, O., Nitsch, R., Heppner, F.L., Golenbock, D., Schott, E., Ploegh, H.L., Wulczyn, F.G., Lehnardt, S., 2012. An unconventional role for miRNA: let-7 activates Toll-like receptor 7 and causes neurodegeneration. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 827–835.

- Li, X., Shu, C., Yi, G., Chaton, C.T., Shelton, C.L., Diao, J., Zuo, X., Kao, C.C., Herr, A.B., Li, P., 2013. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is activated by double-stranded DNA-induced oligomerization. Immunity 39, 1019–1031.
- Li, Z., Chao, T.C., Chang, K.Y., Lin, N., Patil, V.S., Shimizu, C., Head, S.R., Burns, J.C., Rana, T.M., 2014. The long noncoding RNA THRIL regulates TNFalpha expression through its interaction with hnRNPL. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 1002–1007.
- Li, P., Fan, J.B., Gao, Y., Zhang, M., Zhang, L., Yang, N., Zhao, X., 2016. miR-135b-5p inhibits LPS-induced TNFalpha production via silencing AMPK phosphatase Ppm1e. Oncotarget 7, 77978–77986.
- Li, X., Liu, C.X., Xue, W., Zhang, Y., Jiang, S., Yin, Q.F., Wei, J., Yao, R.W., Yang, L., Chen, L.L., 2017. Coordinated circRNA biogenesis and function with NF90/NF110 in viral infection. Mol. Cell 67, 214–227.e7.
- Liddicoat, B.J., Piskol, R., Chalk, A.M., Ramaswami, G., Higuchi, M., Hartner, J.C., Li, J.B., Seeburg, P.H., Walkley, C.R., 2015. RNA editing by ADAR1 prevents MDA5 sensing of endogenous dsRNA as nonself. Science 349, 1115–1120.
- Liu, L., Botos, I., Wang, Y., Leonard, J.N., Shiloach, J., Segal, D.M., Davies, D.R., 2008. Structural basis of toll-like receptor 3 signaling with double-stranded RNA. Science 320, 379–381.
- Loo, Y.M., Fornek, J., Crochet, N., Bajwa, G., Perwitasari, O., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Akira, S., Gill, M.A., Garcia-Sastre, A., Katze, M.G., Gale Jr., M., 2008. Distinct RIG-I and MDA5 signaling by RNA viruses in innate immunity. J. Virol. 82, 335–345.
- Lund, J., Sato, A., Akira, S., Medzhitov, R., Iwasaki, A., 2003. Toll-like receptor 9-mediated recognition of herpes simplex virus-2 by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 198, 513–520.
- Lund, J.M., Alexopoulou, L., Sato, A., Karow, M., Adams, N.C., Gale, N.W., Iwasaki, A., Flavell, R.A., 2004. Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by toll-like receptor 7. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 5598–5603.
- Mackenzie, K.J., Carroll, P., Lettice, L., Tarnauskaite, Z., Reddy, K., Dix, F., Revuelta, A., Abbondati, E., Rigby, R.E., Rabe, B., Kilanowski, F., Grimes, G., Fluteau, A., Devenney, P.S., Hill, R.E., Reijns, M.A., Jackson, A.P., 2016. Ribonuclease H2 mutations induce a cGAS/STING-dependent innate immune response. EMBO J. 35, 831–844.
- Mancuso, G., Gambuzza, M., Midiri, A., Biondo, C., Papasergi, S., Akira, S., Teti, G., Beninati, C., 2009. Bacterial recognition by TLR7 in the lysosomes of conventional dendritic cells. Nat. Immunol. 10, 587–594.
- Mannion, N.M., Greenwood, S.M., Young, R., Cox, S., Brindle, J., Read, D., Nellaker, C., Vesely, C., Ponting, C.P., McLaughlin, P.J., Jantsch, M.F., Dorin, J., Adams, I.R., Scadden, A.D., Ohman, M., Keegan, L.P., O'connell, M.A., 2014. The RNAediting enzyme ADAR1 controls innate immune responses to RNA. Cell Rep. 9, 1482–1494.
- Maruzuru, Y., Ichinohe, T., Sato, R., Miyake, K., Okano, T., Suzuki, T., Koshiba, T., Koyanagi, N., Tsuda, S., Watanabe, M., Arii, J., Kato, A., Kawaguchi, Y., 2018. Herpes simplex virus 1 VP22 inhibits AIM2-dependent inflammasome activation to enable efficient viral replication. Cell Host Microbe 23, 254–265.e7.
- Monroe, K.M., Yang, Z., Johnson, J.R., Geng, X., Doitsh, G., Krogan, N.J., Greene, W.C., 2014. IFI16 DNA sensor is required for death of lymphoid CD4 T cells abortively infected with HIV. Science 343, 428–432.
- Morrone, S.R., Wang, T., Constantoulakis, L.M., Hooy, R.M., Delannoy, M.J., Sohn, J., 2014. Cooperative assembly of IFI16 filaments on dsDNA provides insights into host defense strategy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, E62–E71.

- Nabet, B.Y., Qiu, Y., Shabason, J.E., Wu, T.J., Yoon, T., Kim, B.C., Benci, J.L., Demichele, A.M., Tchou, J., Marcotrigiano, J., Minn, A.J., 2017. Exosome RNA unshielding couples stromal activation to pattern recognition receptor signaling in cancer. Cell 170, 352–366.e13.
- Ohto, U., Shibata, T., Tanji, H., Ishida, H., Krayukhina, E., Uchiyama, S., Miyake, K., Shimizu, T., 2015. Structural basis of CpG and inhibitory DNA recognition by toll-like receptor 9. Nature 520, 702–705.
- Ohto, U., Ishida, H., Shibata, T., Sato, R., Miyake, K., Shimizu, T., 2018. Toll-like receptor 9 contains two DNA binding sites that function cooperatively to promote receptor dimerization and activation. Immunity 48, 649–658.e4.
- Oldenburg, M., Kruger, A., Ferstl, R., Kaufmann, A., Nees, G., Sigmund, A., Bathke, B., Lauterbach, H., Suter, M., Dreher, S., Koedel, U., Akira, S., Kawai, T., Buer, J., Wagner, H., Bauer, S., Hochrein, H., Kirschning, C.J., 2012. TLR13 recognizes bacterial 23S rRNA devoid of erythromycin resistance-forming modification. Science 337, 1111–1115.
- Peisley, A., Wu, B., Yao, H., Walz, T., Hur, S., 2013. RIG-I forms signaling-competent filaments in an ATP-dependent, ubiquitin-independent manner. Mol. Cell 51, 573–583.
- Pestal, K., Funk, C.C., Snyder, J.M., Price, N.D., Treuting, P.M., Stetson, D.B., 2015. Isoforms of RNA-editing enzyme ADAR1 independently control nucleic acid sensor MDA5-driven autoimmunity and multi-organ development. Immunity 43, 933–944.
- Pohar, J., Kuznik Krajnik, A., Jerala, R., Bencina, M., 2015a. Minimal sequence requirements for oligodeoxyribonucleotides activating human TLR9. J. Immunol. 194, 3901–3908.
- Pohar, J., Lainscek, D., Fukui, R., Yamamoto, C., Miyake, K., Jerala, R., Bencina, M., 2015b. Species-specific minimal sequence motif for oligodeoxyribonucleotides activating mouse TLR9. J. Immunol. 195, 4396–4405.
- Pokatayev, V., Hasin, N., Chon, H., Cerritelli, S.M., Sakhuja, K., Ward, J.M., Morris, H.D., Yan, N., Crouch, R.J., 2016. RNase H2 catalytic core aicardi-goutieres syndromerelated mutant invokes cGAS-STING innate immune-sensing pathway in mice. J. Exp. Med. 213, 329–336.
- Ramaswami, G., Lin, W., Piskol, R., Tan, M.H., Davis, C., Li, J.B., 2012. Accurate identification of human Alu and non-Alu RNA editing sites. Nat. Methods 9, 579–581.
- Rasmussen, S.B., Jensen, S.B., Nielsen, C., Quartin, E., Kato, H., Chen, Z.J., Silverman, R.H., Akira, S., Paludan, S.R., 2009. Herpes simplex virus infection is sensed by both toll-like receptors and retinoic acid-inducible gene-like receptors, which synergize to induce type I interferon production. J. Gen. Virol. 90, 74–78.
- Rathinam, V.A., Fitzgerald, K.A., 2011. Cytosolic surveillance and antiviral immunity. Curr. Opin. Virol. 1, 455–462.
- Rehwinkel, J., Tan, C.P., Goubau, D., Schulz, O., Pichlmair, A., Bier, K., Robb, N., Vreede, F., Barclay, W., Fodor, E., Reis e Sousa, C., 2010. RIG-I detects viral genomic RNA during negative-strand RNA virus infection. Cell 140, 397–408.
- Rehwinkel, J., Maelfait, J., Bridgeman, A., Rigby, R., Hayward, B., Liberatore, R.A., Bieniasz, P.D., Towers, G.J., Moita, L.F., Crow, Y.J., Bonthron, D.T., Reis e Sousa, C., 2013. SAMHD1-dependent retroviral control and escape in mice. EMBO J. 32, 2454–2462.
- Reinert, L.S., Lopusna, K., Winther, H., Sun, C., Thomsen, M.K., Nandakumar, R., Mogensen, T.H., Meyer, M., Vaegter, C., Nyengaard, J.R., Fitzgerald, K.A., Paludan, S.R., 2016. Sensing of HSV-1 by the cGAS-STING pathway in microglia orchestrates antiviral defence in the CNS. Nat. Commun. 7, 13348.
- Reinholz, M., Kawakami, Y., Salzer, S., Kreuter, A., Dombrowski, Y., Koglin, S., Kresse, S., Ruzicka, T., Schauber, J., 2013. HPV16 activates the AIM2 inflammasome in keratinocytes. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 305, 723–732.

- Rice, G.I., Bond, J., Asipu, A., Brunette, R.L., Manfield, I.W., Carr, I.M., Fuller, J.C., Jackson, R.M., Lamb, T., Briggs, T.A., Ali, M., Gornall, H., Couthard, L.R., Aeby, A., Attard-Montalto, S.P., Bertini, E., Bodemer, C., Brockmann, K., Brueton, L.A., Corry, P.C., Desguerre, I., Fazzi, E., Cazorla, A.G., Gener, B., Hamel, B.C., Heiberg, A., Hunter, M., Van der Knaap, M.S., Kumar, R., Lagae, L., Landrieu, P.G., Lourenco, C.M., Marom, D., Mcdermott, M.F., Van Der Merwe, W., Orcesi, S., Prendiville, J.S., Rasmussen, M., Shalev, S.A., Soler, D.M., Shinawi, M., Spiegel, R., Tan, T.Y., Vanderver, A., Wakeling, E.L., Wassmer, E., Whittaker, E., Lebon, P., Stetson, D.B., Bonthron, D.T., Crow, Y.J., 2009. Mutations involved in aicardi-goutieres syndrome implicate SAMHD1 as regulator of the innate immune response. Nat. Genet. 41, 829–832.
- Rice, G.I., Kasher, P.R., Forte, G.M., Mannion, N.M., Greenwood, S.M., Szynkiewicz, M., Dickerson, J.E., Bhaskar, S.S., Zampini, M., Briggs, T.A., Jenkinson, E.M., Bacino, C.A., Battini, R., Bertini, E., Brogan, P.A., Brueton, L.A., Carpanelli, M., De Laet, C., De Lonlay, P., Del Toro, M., Desguerre, I., Fazzi, E., Garcia-Cazorla, A., Heiberg, A., Kawaguchi, M., Kumar, R., Lin, J.P., Lourenco, C.M., Male, A.M., Marques Jr., W., Mignot, C., Olivieri, I., Orcesi, S., Prabhakar, P., Rasmussen, M., Robinson, R.A., Rozenberg, F., Schmidt, J.L., Steindl, K., Tan, T.Y., Van Der Merwe, W.G., Vanderver, A., Vassallo, G., Wakeling, E.L., Wassmer, E., Whittaker, E., Livingston, J.H., Lebon, P., Suzuki, T., McLaughlin, P.J., Keegan, L.P., O'connell, M.A., Lovell, S.C., Crow, Y.J., 2012. Mutations in ADAR1 cause aicardi-goutieres syndrome associated with a type I interferon signature. Nat. Genet. 44, 1243–1248.
- Roberts, T.L., Idris, A., Dunn, J.A., Kelly, G.M., Burnton, C.M., Hodgson, S., Hardy, L.L., Garceau, V., Sweet, M.J., Ross, I.L., Hume, D.A., Stacey, K.J., 2009. HIN-200 proteins regulate caspase activation in response to foreign cytoplasmic DNA. Science 323, 1057–1060.
- Rodero, M.P., Tesser, A., Bartok, E., Rice, G.I., Della Mina, E., Depp, M., Beitz, B., Bondet, V., Cagnard, N., Duffy, D., Dussiot, M., Fremond, M.L., Gattorno, M., Guillem, F., Kitabayashi, N., Porcheray, F., Rieux-Laucat, F., Seabra, L., Uggenti, C., Volpi, S., Zeef, L.A.H., Alyanakian, M.A., Beltrand, J., Bianco, A.M., Boddaert, N., Brouzes, C., Candon, S., Caorsi, R., Charbit, M., Fabre, M., Faletra, F., Girard, M., Harroche, A., Hartmann, E., Lasne, D., Marcuzzi, A., Neven, B., Nitschke, P., Pascreau, T., Pastore, S., Picard, C., Picco, P., Piscianz, E., Polak, M., Quartier, P., Rabant, M., Stocco, G., Taddio, A., Uettwiller, F., Valencic, E., Vozzi, D., Hartmann, G., Barchet, W., Hermine, O., Bader-Meunier, B., Tommasini, A., Crow, Y.J., 2017. Type I interferon-mediated autoinflammation due to DNase II deficiency. Nat. Commun. 8, 2176.
- Roulois, D., Loo Yau, H., Singhania, R., Wang, Y., Danesh, A., Shen, S.Y., Han, H., Liang, G., Jones, P.A., Pugh, T.J., O'brien, C., De Carvalho, D.D., 2015. DNAdemethylating agents target colorectal cancer cells by inducing viral mimicry by endogenous transcripts. Cell 162, 961–973.
- Schlee, M., Roth, A., Hornung, V., Hagmann, C.A., Wimmenauer, V., Barchet, W., Coch, C., Janke, M., Mihailovic, A., Wardle, G., Juranek, S., Kato, H., Kawai, T., Poeck, H., Fitzgerald, K.A., Takeuchi, O., Akira, S., Tuschl, T., Latz, E., Ludwig, J., Hartmann, G., 2009. Recognition of 5' triphosphate by RIG-I helicase requires short blunt double-stranded RNA as contained in panhandle of negative-strand virus. Immunity 31, 25–34.
- Schnieke, A., Stuhlmann, H., Harbers, K., Chumakov, I., Jaenisch, R., 1983. Endogenous Moloney leukemia virus in nonviremic Mov substrains of mice carries defects in the proviral genome. J. Virol. 45, 505–513.

- Schoggins, J.W., Wilson, S.J., Panis, M., Murphy, M.Y., Jones, C.T., Bieniasz, P., Rice, C.M., 2011. A diverse range of gene products are effectors of the type I interferon antiviral response. Nature 472, 481–485.
- Schulz, O., Diebold, S.S., Chen, M., Naslund, T.I., Nolte, M.A., Alexopoulou, L., Azuma, Y.T., Flavell, R.A., Liljestrom, P., Reis e Sousa, C., 2005. Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. Nature 433, 887–892.
- Sharova, N., Wu, Y., Zhu, X., Stranska, R., Kaushik, R., Sharkey, M., Stevenson, M., 2008. Primate lentiviral Vpx commandeers DDB1 to counteract a macrophage restriction. PLoS Pathog. 4, e1000057.
- Sheedy, F.J., Palsson-McDermott, E., Hennessy, E.J., Martin, C., O'leary, J.J., Ruan, Q., Johnson, D.S., Chen, Y., O'neill, L.A., 2010. Negative regulation of TLR4 via targeting of the proinflammatory tumor suppressor PDCD4 by the microRNA miR-21. Nat. Immunol. 11, 141–147.
- Stavrou, S., Blouch, K., Kotla, S., Bass, A., Ross, S.R., 2015. Nucleic acid recognition orchestrates the anti-viral response to retroviruses. Cell Host Microbe 17, 478–488.
- Stetson, D.B., ko, J.S., Heidmann, T., Medzhitov, R., 2008. Trex1 prevents cell-intrinsic initiation of autoimmunity. Cell 134, 587–598.
- Sun, L., Wu, J., Du, F., Chen, X., Chen, Z.J., 2013. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. Science 339, 786–791.
- Tabeta, K., Georgel, P., Janssen, E., Du, X., Hoebe, K., Crozat, K., Mudd, S., Shamel, L., Sovath, S., Goode, J., Alexopoulou, L., Flavell, R.A., Beutler, B., 2004. Toll-like receptors 9 and 3 as essential components of innate immune defense against mouse cytomegalovirus infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 3516–3521.
- Takemura, N., Kawasaki, T., Kunisawa, J., Sato, S., Lamichhane, A., Kobiyama, K., Aoshi, T., Ito, J., Mizuguchi, K., Karuppuchamy, T., Matsunaga, K., Miyatake, S., Mori, N., Tsujimura, T., Satoh, T., Kumagai, Y., Kawai, T., Standley, D.M., Ishii, K.J., Kiyono, H., Akira, S., Uematsu, S., 2014. Blockade of TLR3 protects mice from lethal radiation-induced gastrointestinal syndrome. Nat. Commun. 5, 3492.
- Takemura, N., Kurashima, Y., Mori, Y., Okada, K., Ogino, T., Osawa, H., Matsuno, H., Aayam, L., Kaneto, S., Park, E.J., Sato, S., Matsunaga, K., Tamura, Y., Ouchi, Y., Kumagai, Y., Kobayashi, D., Suzuki, Y., Yoshioka, Y., Nishimura, J., Mori, M., Ishii, K.J., Rothenberg, M.E., Kiyono, H., Akira, S., Uematsu, S., 2018. Eosinophil depletion suppresses radiation-induced small intestinal fibrosis. Sci. Transl. Med. 10, eaan0333.
- Tang, B., Li, X., Ren, Y., Wang, J., Xu, D., Hang, Y., Zhou, T., Li, F., Wang, L., 2017. MicroRNA-29a regulates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced inflammatory responses in murine macrophages through the Akt1/NF-kappaB pathway. Exp. Cell Res. 360, 74–80.
- Tanji, H., Ohto, U., Shibata, T., Miyake, K., Shimizu, T., 2013. Structural reorganization of the Toll-like receptor 8 dimer induced by agonistic ligands. Science 339, 1426–1429.
- Wang, Q., Khillan, J., Gadue, P., Nishikura, K., 2000. Requirement of the RNA editing deaminase ADAR1 gene for embryonic erythropoiesis. Science 290, 1765–1768.
- Wang, X., Han, Y., Dang, Y., Fu, W., Zhou, T., Ptak, R.G., Zheng, Y.H., 2010. Moloney leukemia virus 10 (MOV10) protein inhibits retrovirus replication. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 14346–14355.
- Wassermann, R., Gulen, M.F., Sala, C., Perin, S.G., Lou, Y., Rybniker, J., Schmid-Burgk, J.L., Schmidt, T., Hornung, V., Cole, S.T., Ablasser, A., 2015. Mycobacterium tuberculosis differentially activates cGAS- and inflammasome-dependent intracellular immune responses through ESX-1. Cell Host Microbe 17, 799–810.
- Waterston, R.H., Lindblad-Toh, K., Birney, E., Rogers, J., Abril, J.F., Agarwal, P., Agarwala, R., Ainscough, R., Alexandersson, M., An, P., Antonarakis, S.E., Attwood, J., Baertsch, R., Bailey, J., Barlow, K., Beck, S., Berry, E., Birren, B.,

Bloom, T., Bork, P., Botcherby, M., Bray, N., Brent, M.R., Brown, D.G., Brown, S.D., Bult, C., Burton, J., Butler, J., Campbell, R.D., Carninci, P., Cawley, S., Chiaromonte, F., Chinwalla, A.T., Church, D.M., Clamp, M., Clee, C., Collins, F.S., Cook, L.L., Copley, R.R., Coulson, A., Couronne, O., Cuff, J., Curwen, V., Cutts, T., Daly, M., David, R., Davies, J., Delehaunty, K.D., Deri, J., Dermitzakis, E.T., Dewey, C., Dickens, N.J., Diekhans, M., Dodge, S., Dubchak, I., Dunn, D.M., Eddy, S.R., Elnitski, L., Emes, R.D., Eswara, P., Eyras, E., Felsenfeld, A., Fewell, G.A., Flicek, P., Foley, K., Frankel, W.N., Fulton, L.A., Fulton, R.S., Furey, T.S., Gage, D., Gibbs, R.A., Glusman, G., Gnerre, S., Goldman, N., Goodstadt, L., Grafham, D., Graves, T.A., Green, E.D., Gregory, S., Guigo, R., Guyer, M., Hardison, R.C., Haussler, D., Hayashizaki, Y., Hillier, L.W., Hinrichs, A., Hlavina, W., Holzer, T., Hsu, F., Hua, A., Hubbard, T., Hunt, A., Jackson, I., Jaffe, D.B., Johnson, L.S., Jones, M., Jones, T.A., Joy, A., Kamal, M., Karlsson, E.K., et al., 2002. Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature 420, 520–562.

- Watson, R.O., Bell, S.L., Macduff, D.A., Kimmey, J.M., Diner, E.J., Olivas, J., Vance, R.E., Stallings, C.L., Virgin, H.W., Cox, J.S., 2015. The cytosolic sensor cGAS detects mycobacterium tuberculosis DNA to induce type I interferons and activate autophagy. Cell Host Microbe 17, 811–819.
- Werner, M., Purta, E., Kaminska, K.H., Cymerman, I.A., Campbell, D.A., Mittra, B., Zamudio, J.R., Sturm, N.R., Jaworski, J., Bujnicki, J.M., 2011. 2'-O-ribose methylation of cap2 in human: function and evolution in a horizontally mobile family. Nucleic Acids Res. 39, 4756–4768.
- West, A.P., Khoury-Hanold, W., Staron, M., Tal, M.C., Pineda, C.M., Lang, S.M., Bestwick, M., Duguay, B.A., Raimundo, N., Macduff, D.A., Kaech, S.M., Smiley, J.R., Means, R.E., Iwasaki, A., Shadel, G.S., 2015. Mitochondrial DNA stress primes the antiviral innate immune response. Nature 520, 553–557.
- Woo, S.R., Fuertes, M.B., Corrales, L., Spranger, S., Furdyna, M.J., Leung, M.Y., Duggan, R., Wang, Y., Barber, G.N., Fitzgerald, K.A., Alegre, M.L., Gajewski, T.F., 2014. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. Immunity 41, 830–842.
- Wu, J., Chen, Z.J., 2014. Innate immune sensing and signaling of cytosolic nucleic acids. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 32, 461–488.
- Wu, B., Peisley, A., Richards, C., Yao, H., Zeng, X., Lin, C., Chu, F., Walz, T., Hur, S., 2013. Structural basis for dsRNA recognition, filament formation, and antiviral signal activation by MDA5. Cell 152, 276–289.
- Wu, B., Peisley, A., Tetrault, D., Li, Z., Egelman, E.H., Magor, K.E., Walz, T., Penczek, P.A., Hur, S., 2014. Molecular imprinting as a signal-activation mechanism of the viral RNA sensor RIG-I. Mol. Cell 55, 511–523.
- Xu, S., Ducroux, A., Ponnurangam, A., Vieyres, G., Franz, S., Musken, M., Zillinger, T., Malassa, A., Ewald, E., Hornung, V., Barchet, W., Haussler, S., Pietschmann, T., Goffinet, C., 2016. cGAS-mediated innate immunity spreads intercellularly through HIV-1 env-induced membrane fusion sites. Cell Host Microbe 20, 443–457.
- Yanai, H., Ban, T., Wang, Z., Choi, M.K., Kawamura, T., Negishi, H., Nakasato, M., Lu, Y., Hangai, S., Koshiba, R., Savitsky, D., Ronfani, L., Akira, S., Bianchi, M.E., Honda, K., Tamura, T., Kodama, T., Taniguchi, T., 2009. HMGB proteins function as universal sentinels for nucleic-acid-mediated innate immune responses. Nature 462, 99–103.
- Yoneyama, M., Fujita, T., 2008. Structural mechanism of RNA recognition by the RIG-Ilike receptors. Immunity 29, 178–181.
- Zeng, C., Wu, A., Wang, Y., Xu, S., Tang, Y., Jin, X., Wang, S., Qin, L., Sun, Y., Fan, C., Snijder, E.J., Neuman, B.W., Chen, Y., Ahola, T., Guo, D., 2016. Identification and

characterization of a ribose 2'-O-methyltransferase encoded by the ronivirus branch of nidovirales. J. Virol. 90, 6675–6685.

- Zhang, F., Romano, P.R., Nagamura-Inoue, T., Tian, B., Dever, T.E., Mathews, M.B., Ozato, K., Hinnebusch, A.G., 2001. Binding of double-stranded RNA to protein kinase PKR is required for dimerization and promotes critical autophosphorylation events in the activation loop. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 24946–24958.
- Zhang, S.Y., Jouanguy, E., Ugolini, S., Smahi, A., Elain, G., Romero, P., Segal, D., Sancho-Shimizu, V., Lorenzo, L., Puel, A., Picard, C., Chapgier, A., Plancoulaine, S., Titeux, M., Cognet, C., Von Bernuth, H., Ku, C.L., Casrouge, A., Zhang, X.X., Barreiro, L., Leonard, J., Hamilton, C., Lebon, P., Heron, B., Vallee, L., Quintana-Murci, L., Hovnanian, A., Rozenberg, F., Vivier, E., Geissmann, F., Tardieu, M., Abel, L., Casanova, J.L., 2007. TLR3 deficiency in patients with herpes simplex encephalitis. Science 317, 1522–1527.
- Zhang, X., Shi, H., Wu, J., Sun, L., Chen, C., Chen, Z.J., 2013. Cyclic GMP-AMP containing mixed phosphodiester linkages is an endogenous high-affinity ligand for STING. Mol. Cell 51, 226–235.
- Zhang, L., Huang, C., Guo, Y., Gou, X., Hinsdale, M., Lloyd, P., Liu, L., 2015. Micro-RNA-26b modulates the NF-kappaB pathway in alveolar macrophages by regulating PTEN. J. Immunol. 195, 5404–5414.
- Zhang, J., Huang, F., Tan, L., Bai, C., Chen, B., Liu, J., Liang, J., Liu, C., Zhang, S., Lu, G., Chen, Y., Zhang, H., 2016a. Host protein moloney leukemia virus 10 (MOV10) acts as a restriction factor of influenza a virus by inhibiting the nuclear import of the viral nucleoprotein. J. Virol. 90, 3966–3980.
- Zhang, Z., Ohto, U., Shibata, T., Krayukhina, E., Taoka, M., Yamauchi, Y., Tanji, H., Isobe, T., Uchiyama, S., Miyake, K., Shimizu, T., 2016b. Structural analysis reveals that toll-like receptor 7 is a dual receptor for guanosine and single-stranded RNA. Immunity 45, 737–748.
- Zhu, J., Huang, X., Yang, Y., 2007. Innate immune response to adenoviral vectors is mediated by both Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent pathways. J. Virol. 81, 3170–3180.
- Zhu, J., Zhang, Y., Ghosh, A., Cuevas, R.A., Forero, A., Dhar, J., Ibsen, M.S., Schmid-Burgk, J.L., Schmidt, T., Ganapathiraju, M.K., Fujita, T., Hartmann, R., Barik, S., Hornung, V., Coyne, C.B., Sarkar, S.N., 2014. Antiviral activity of human OASL protein is mediated by enhancing signaling of the RIG-I RNA sensor. Immunity 40, 936–948.
- Zust, R., Cervantes-Barragan, L., Habjan, M., Maier, R., Neuman, B.W., Ziebuhr, J., Szretter, K.J., Baker, S.C., Barchet, W., Diamond, M.S., Siddell, S.G., Ludewig, B., Thiel, V., 2011. Ribose 2'-O-methylation provides a molecular signature for the distinction of self and non-self mRNA dependent on the RNA sensor Mda5. Nat. Immunol. 12, 137–143.
- Zust, R., Li, S.H., Xie, X., Velumani, S., Chng, M., Toh, Y.X., Zou, J., Dong, H., Shan, C., Pang, J., Qin, C.F., Newell, E.W., Shi, P.Y., Fink, K., 2018. Characterization of a candidate tetravalent vaccine based on 2'-O-methyltransferase mutants. PLoS One 13, e0189262.